BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ISSUES

Whether the subdivision plat recorded in 1994 for Phase V of Grand Oaks has ever been

amended under Miss. Code Ann. §19-27-31 to add a road on or between Lots 142 and

143 of the subdivision, whete:

a. The Developer represented in its petition to amend the plat and the court found
in its decree that “the existing easements and streets shall... remain unchanged”
and there was no road on or between Lots 142 and 143 in the original plat; and

b. The Developer’s stated purpose for the amendment, as stated in its petition and
the required public advertisement for the amendment, was to enlarge lots 143,
144, 146, and 147, and to add lots 148, 149, and 150, and the stated purposes
make no reference to the addition of a road.

Whether a petitioner for a plat amendment is bound by the terms and findings of the

decree on his petition and is bound by the stated purposes and representations in the

petition and in the required public advertisement for the plat amendment.

Whether the scope of a plat amendment decree is jutisdictionally limited to the plat

amendments prayed for in the petition and the putposes described in the required public

advertisement for the amendment.

Whether a party who signs a waiver of process and consent to a plat amendment petition

ist (a) entitled to rely on the stated. purposes and reptresentations in the petition as

limiting what is to be sought in the proceeding; and (b) can be said to have waived
jurisdictional limits on the court’s power.

Whether use of a 45-foot strip of an original platted lot of Phase V of the Grand Oaks

Subdivision as a road would violate the Grand Oaks protective covenants.



0. Whether use of a 45-foot strip as a road would violate the requitements of the City of
Oxford Land Development Code, for example, the requirement that a road used by 2000
ot mote homes as a collector road in a multi-unit residential area be at least 48-feet wide

and have a 68-foot right-of-way.

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal in a case involving the rights of the plaintiff, Phyllis W. Niedfeldt, as
the Trustee of the Phyllis W. Niedfeldt Living Trust, which owns a lot and home on Majestic
Oaks Drive in Phase V of the Grand Oaks subdivision in Oxford, Mississippi. The part of the
Grand Oaks subdivision in which Phyllis Niedfeldt lives has 198 homes sutrounding a golf
course. Tr.110-11'

Mrs. Niedfeldt sued the current and past developer of Grand Oaks, after learning in '
public presentations to the Oxford Planning Commission that there were plans to open a road
that would allow residents of a new 2000-unit development, including 1137 multi-family “four-
plex” units,” to use Majestic Oaks Drive to access Highway 7. Mrs. Niedfeldt’s complaint
pointed out that the developer’s plans to provide access through the existing Grand Oaks
subdivision were being discussed publicly (a) without complying with the provisions of Grand
Ozks’ protective covenants for adding a new road; (b) without following the statutoty
requirements to amend the subdivision plat recorded in 1994 to authorize such a new road; and
(c) without complying with the City of Oxford Land Development Code requirements for the

new road.

!Citations to the clerk’s record are in tl_le form R. . Citations to the transcript of
the trial and post-trial hearing below are in the form Tr. . Citations to the Record
Excerpts are to their tab numbers and in the form R.E. Tab

2 Based on PUD II Site Data submitted by the present Grand Oaks developer to the
Oxford Planning Department as of September 1, 2005. See Exhibit 18, unnumbered page 17.
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In denying the relief requested in her Complaint, the Chancellor ruled that a Chancery
Coutt proceeding filed by the original developer in 1995 (hereinaftet, the “1995 Chancery Court
Proceeding”) authorized an amendment of the subdivision plat to allow the new road, even
though the Petition and Decree that authorized the plat amendment in the 1995 Chancery Coﬁrt
Proceeding each explicitly provided “[t]hat the existing easements and streets as shown on the
original Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks subdivision shall remain unchanged.” See Exhibit
13 at unnumbeted page 7, R.E. Tab 5, Order to Alter and Amend Original Map and Plat of
Grand Oaks Subdivision by Enlarging and Renumbering Certain Lots.

The Chancellor further ruled that, by waiving process and filing an appearance in the
1995 plat amendment case, Mrs. Niedfeldt waived a right to challenge whatever happened in that
case, see ‘Ir. 115-117, R.E. Tab 2—although the record in that case establishes that nothing
happened to authotize a new road or right-of-way in Grand Oaks subdivision. See discussion
infraat 19-29.

A central issue on this appeal is whether, in waiving her right to service of process and
consenting to judgment in 1995, Mrs. Niedfeldt is protected by the representations and limits
expressed in the pleadings of the party benefiting from the waiver.

Another central issue on this appeal is whether the past or current developer has ever
followed either of the two statutory alternatives available in Mississippi to alter Grand Oaks’

subdivision plat to add the road in question.

I. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW
Phyllis Niedfeldt, a property owner in Grand Ozks subdivision, filed this action in the
Chancery Court of Lafayette County against the prior and cutrent developer of the Grand Oaks
subdivision. Mrs. Niedfeldt lives on Majestic Oaks Drive in Grand Oaks. The current

developer had publicly announced plans that would have used existing lots on Majestic Oaks
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Drive as connector roads to large new additional development. Mrs. Niedfeldt’s complaint
sought an injunction prohibiting the construction of any road on Lots 109, 142, or 143 in
Grand Oaks. R. 1-16. The Complaint requested such relief, because (a) construction of such a
road would violate the protective covenants for Grand Oaks; (b) the statutory procedures for
amending the recorded plat had not been followed to authorize the road; and (c) the road would
not comply with the requirements of the Land Development Code of the City of Oxford. R. 1-
16.

In response to Mrs. Niedfeldt’s Complaint, Grand Oaks Communities, 1.I.C., the
present developer, and Grand Oaks, Inc., the prior developer, answered sepatately. See R. 67
(Grand Oaks Communities’ Answer); R. 82 (Grand Oaks, Inc’s Answetr). Grand Oaks
Communities later filed 2 motion to dismiss asserting that this action was an impermissible
appeal or collateral attack on zoning decisions made by the City of Oxford. R. 98. As a basis
for this motion, Grand Oaks Communities asserted that the City of Oxford had “approved
amended subdivision plats which depict the subject easements,” that the Complaint sought
review of the City’s zoning decisions, and that the only way to seek such review was by filing a
Bill of Exceptions appealing the matter to Circuit Court. R. 101.

Years previously, Grand Oaks, Inc. had followed one of the statutory procedures for
amending a subdivision plat by filing a Petition in the Chancery Court of Lafayette County.
Chancery Court Cause No. 95-471 Petition to Alter and Amend Original Map and Plat of Grand
Oaks By Enlarging and Renumbernng Certain Lots, Exhibit 11 (heteinafter “1995 Petition,

Exhibit 11”). That Petition contained the statement: “the existing easements and streets as

* The question concerning a road on Lot 109 became moot, because the defendants
presented testimony at trial that they had agreed with the Grand Oaks homeowners’ association
not to build 2 road on Lot 109. See Tr. 33-34.



shown on the otiginal Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks Subdivision shall remain unchanged.”
It also stated that the existing Protective Covenants “will temain unchanged and in full force and
effect.” Id. At7. The petition followed the statutory procedure by naming all propetty owners,
including Phyllis Niedfeldt, who signed a waiver of process and entry of appearance. Waiver of
Process and Entry of Appearance in Cause No. 95-471 Waiver of Process and Entry of
Appearance in Cause No. 95-471, Exhibit 12; see Tr. 9 (admitting Exhibit 12). The chancery
court entered a decree in that cause that provided “the existing easements and streets as shown
on the original Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks subdivision shall remain unchanged.” 1995
Otder, Exhibit 13 at unoumbered page 7, RE. Tab 5; see Tr. 9 (admitting Exhibit 13).
Attached to this decree was a part of a plat of Grand Oaks. This plat showed a part of the lots
that were being altered and to which land was added.

The decision by the chancellor in the court below turned on the scope and meaning of
this 1995 decree. Mrs. Niedfeldt’s complaint contained a request for a preliminary injunction
and asked as a part of the relief sought that the complaint be treated as a motion for a
preliminary injunction under Miss.R.Civ.Pro. 65. R. 14-15. A hearing for a motion for a
preliminary injunction relief was held on August 22, 2006. At the conclusion of the hearing; the
chancellor rendered a bench opinion, ruling for the defendants. The chancellor ruled:

There was a petition filed in Chancery Court Cause No. 95-471, “Grand
Oaks Development Ins. vs. All Of The Owners Of Lots In Grand
Oaks,” as king the Court to adopt and to ratify the chang ed plat ot
amended plat of Grand Oaks Subdivision. Mrs. Niedfeldt signed a
waiver to that action, and she did not file any type of tesponsive
pleadings to the action. Thete was a decree entered by the Court on the
23" day of February, 1996, which said, That the clerk and proper lawful
authorities of the City of Oxford, and of the Chancety Cletk of Lafayette
County, Mississippi directed to accept and file and regard the altered and
amended Maps and Plats of Grand Oaks Subdivision, which they did.

The amended plat that was approved by the Court is Exhibit No. 5,
Exhibit No. 4 is the old plat.



In the petition and in the Order it is stated in Paragraph 8 of the Otder,
That the existing easements and streets that are shown on the original
Maps and Plats of Grand Oaks Subdivision shall remain unchanged.

The Court in examining Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 5 finds that the streets and
easements remain the same. They have not been altered. Three lots have
been added in the amended plat, and some of the lots—existing lots of
Grand Oaks was made larger and some were made smaller. The two lots
in question, Lot No. 143 in the old plat consisted of 1.072 actes. In the
new plat—it has 1.20 acres. Lot 142 in the old plat has 1.295 acres. In
the new plat it has 1.11 acres. The plat that was apptoved by the Coutt
has a 45 foot width strip of land between the two lots of 143 and 142.
There’s nothing in here that designates what it is, so it is not a lot.

So based upon this, the Court is going to deny your—your Complaint
and your Motion for Preliminary Injunction. I think when the plaintiff
filed—when she signed her waiver it was her duty then to know what she
had signed her waiver on. And thus by not objecting at the time she
approved the amended plat, and I think she is bound by it.

Tr. 115-117, R.E. Tab 2. Thereafter, a jﬁdgment was entered based upon this bench ruling
consolidating trial of the merits with the preliminary injunction and dismissing the case. R. 174,
R.E. Tab 3.

Phyllis Niedfeldt filed a timely motion for a new trial, which noted that both the Petition
and Decree in Chancery Court Cause 95-471 explicitly stated that “the existing easements and
stteets as shown on the original Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks subdivision shall remain
unchanged.” R. 176. The motion pointed out that the trial court’s ruling from the bench
contradicts explicit assurances and findings in the 1995 Chancery Coutt Proceeding:

This Court’s ruling that the plaintiff should have further investigatéd the
nature of the changes sought in cause number 95-471 runs counter to the
explicit assurance in the petition and finding of the court in cause
number 35-471. The petition informed the plaintiff at the time of her
entry of appearance, and anyone who read it, that there would be no
changes in the existing streets or casements. The court’s finding to that
effect is binding upon the developer.



R. 177. This motion for a new trial was brought on for hearing on October 13, 2007, and
overruled by an order entered October 30, 2006. Tr. 117; R. 187, R.E. Tab 4. A timely Notice

of Appeal was filed on November 28, 2006, R. 188, and this appeal followed.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff Phyllis W. Niedfeldt lives at 3884 Majestic Ozaks Drive on Lot 94 in Grand
Oaks subdivision. Grand Oaks was originally developed by defendant Grand Oaks, Inc. Tr. 61-
62.

This litigaﬁon involves two lots farther down Majestic Oaks Drive from Mrs. Niedfeldt’s
house, Lots 142 and 143. In 2005, Bernard Johnson, as the representative of the current
developer of Grand Oaks, Grand Oaks Communities, L.L..C., filed publicly available documents
and made public presentations to the Oxford Planning Commission and the Oxford Board of |
Aldermen that indicated that the current developer planned to build an access road on those lots
to a large new development. Tr. 98-100, 106-07. About a year before the litigation began, the
current developer began work on a road bed entering Majestic Oaks Drive at lots 142 and 143.
Tr. 27.

Majestic Oaks Drive makes a U-shaped loop around the golf course in Grand Oaks.
Majestic Oaks Drive as it exists now is a winding, quiet and narrow street in a residential area
with houses reiatively high in value along it. Tr. 24-25, 27. Mrs. Niedfeldt selected Grand Oaks
to live in because it “was a wonder[ful] encapsulated subdivision that would provide tranquility
and safety for me” and chose Lot 94, because “it was a beautiful lot situated on a golf course.”
Tr. 24. Mrs. Niedfeldt’'s home is the first home on the left on Majestic Oaks Drive as one entets
the subdivision. Any access from the main enttance of Grand Oaks to a new road at lots 142

and 143 would necessarily pass her house. Tr. 25, 51-53.



'The proposed road at Lots 142 and 143 would be the most direct access from the main
entrance of Grand Oaks and the existing subdivision to a planned new golf course club facility.
Tr. 52. It will also connect through to 462.43 acres that the current developer has purchased
south of Grand Qaks for additional de.velopment. Tr. 96, 106-08; Minutes of Oxford Planning
Commission, Exhibit 33.*

Grand Oaks Communities has announced that it plans to develop up to 2212 units’
(including approximately 1000 multi-family “four-plex” units) on roughly 600 acres to the south
of Majestic Oaks Drive. Tr. 111. This land to the south will only be accessible from the existing
parts of Grand Oaks through the connector road on Lots 142 and 143. While Grand Oaks
Communities’ representative stated that he had made a commitment that the road would be
“limited in access,” Tr. 102-105, the developer did not establish any formally defined limit on
access whatsoever. Thetre was no evidence that he was bound to limit access in any meaningful
way.

If the connector road is allowed, the potential users of Majestic Oaks Drive will increase
from tesidents of 198 units (at present) to residents of several thousand units in the 600-acre
development to the south.

When she purchased bet lot in 1995, Mrs. Niedfeldt reviewed the protective covenants
for Grand Ozks. She knew that her lot and the other lots in the subdivision would be subject to

those covenants. Tr. 28. The restrictive covenants provide:

“The 462.43 acres is the Fuzr tract. Tr. 96. Another tract (referted to by the Grand Oaks
representative as the Bowles property) is also part of the additional development south of Grand
Oaks. Tr. 106, The planning commission minutes refer to the entire area as 600 actes.

5 This number will vary by topogtaphy but is certainly over a thousand. Tr. 111. 'The
site plan data submitted by current developer to the City of Oxfotd as of September 1, 2005
states plans to develop 2112 units. See unnumbered page 17 of Exhibit 18.
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No lot shall be sold for street purposes, or used as a street or easement to
adjoining property or lots without written consent of the Architectural
Control Committee.

Corrective Protective Covenants, Exhibit 2 at 5 (11); see Tr. 6 (admitting exhibit); Tr. 32
(quoting passage).®

There was no evidence at trial of written approval by the Architectural Control
Committee of Grand Oaks of any new road. While Dr. Rayner, who was the president of Grand
Oaks, Inc. and a member of the Architectural Control Committee at one time, testified that the
committee authorized an engineer to make an amended plat and that this approval was written
down, Tt. 70-71, 87, any such writing was not filed. Tr. 91-93. When Dr. Rayner testified that
the Architectural Control Commuittee approved the amended plat, he was clearly referring to the
plat that he contends was approved in the 1995 chancery matter. Dr. Rayner signed the sworn
Petition that initiated the 1995 chancery court proceeding. That Petition explicitly provides that
the existing easements and streets on the original plats and maps of Grand Oaks would remain
unchanged under the plat amendment being sought. Tr. 87-88.

Dr. Rayner testified that at no time did the Architectural Control Committee approve
“any right-of-way on a lot” nor “a road on a lot.” Tr. 90-91. The record is devoid of any
written consent of the Architectural Control Committee for any portion of Lot 142 or Lot 143
as shown on the plat recorded in 1994 to be used as a road.

The original plat for Grand Oaks included only 147 lots. In July of 1995, the initial
developer, Grand Oasks, Inc., purchased 5.6 additional actes from Dr. Furr south of Lots 142-

147. Tt. 64-65. The 5.6 acre tract was purchased because the lots in Grand Oaks adjoining it

This identical language occurred in both the orginal and the cortective protective
covenants for Grand Oaks. Compare Original Protective Covenants, Exhibit 1 at 5 (Y11) with
Corrective Protective Covenants, Exhibit 2 at 5 (f11).
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were unbuildab le be cause of s etback requirem ents. Tr. 64 -65. According to Dr. Ra yner,
President of Grand Oaks, Inc., the 1995 purchase deepened mote than one existing lot, added
three new lots, and “added a right-of-way for access to the property south of us,” because Dr.
Rayner had learned that another 400 acres owned by Dr. Furr south of Grand Qaks “would be
up for sale at some point.” Tt. 65. Dr. Rayner testified that “we re-platted everything” and “we
put the right-of-way between one—the new plat of 142 and 143.” Tr. 67. He testified that he
believed that the “amended plat” with the right-of-way between Lots 142 and 143 was approved
by both the Oxford Planning Commission and the Chancery Court. Tr. 68, 75.

Dr. Rayner’s testimony about his intent and belief at the time about re-platting and
approval of the right-of-way does not match what was actually filed in the 1995 Chancery Court
Proceeding., The Petition signed and sworn to by Dt. Rayner and filed to initiate that chancery
~ court matter is Exhibit 11. It describes the purpose of the plat amendment being sought as
follows:

VL
That the plaintiff purchased additional property from the adjacent
landowners in order that lots number 143, 144, 146, and 147 may be

enlarged to accommodate houses of a size and in conformity with others
already constructed in Grand Oaks Subdivision.

VI [sic]

That lots 148, 149, and 150 should be added to the subdivision plat.

VIIL

That the existing Protective Covenants of Grand Oaks Subdivision .
.. will remain unchanged and i full force and effect.

VIIL [sic]

That the existing easements and streets as shown on the original
Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks subdivision shall remain unchanged.
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1995 Petition, Exhibit 11, at unnumbered pages 6-7. The prayet of the petition asks that the
map and plat be altered to reflect larger lot sizes for 143, 144, 145, and 147, and that lots 148,
149, and 150 be added, and that the lots be renumbered. Id. at unnumbered page 7. It asks
that the maps and plats filed with the. chancery clerk and the city be changed to reflect these
changes, and that the existing covenants remain unchanged and in full force and effect. Id, at
unnumbered page 8.

Nowhere in the Petition 1s a suggestion that a road is to be added at Lots 142 and 143.
Nowhere 1s there a suggestion that any lot is being made smaller to accommodate a right-of-way
or road ot to create a strip with any “undesignated” use. Furthermore, the petition specifically
recites: “existing easements and streets as shown on the original Maps and Plats of the Grand
Oaks subdivision shall remain unchanged.”

As a part of the plat amendment, Grand Oaks placed an advertisement in the local
newspaper noticing a hearing on a plat amendment proposed “in order to enlarge lots 143, 144,
145, and 147 and to add lots 148, 149, and 150.” Proof of Publication, Exhibit 36. No
reference was made to any changes in the roads or to any lot being changed or made smaller so
that a new road could be added.

Mrs. Niedfeldt signed a waiver of process and consented to entry of a final decree in
response to this petition,” as did other property owners. On February 23, 2006, the Chancery
Coutt entered the Decree, which tracks the averments in the Petition. The Decree, as a result,

includes the following findings:

" Waiver of Process and Entry of Appearance, Exhibit 12.
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VL

That said plats shall be altered and amended to reflect the larger sizes
of lot number 143, 144, 146, and 147, and to show the addition of new
lot numbers 148, 149, and 150.

VIL

That the existing Protective Covenants of Grand Oaks Subdivision . .
. shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.

VIIL

That the existing easements and streets as shown on the original
Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks subdivision shall remain unchanged.

1995 Otder, Exhibit 13 at unnumbered page 7, R.E. Tab 5.
The findings are followed by a description of the matters being adjudged and decreed, by

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