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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor decided this case correctly. He found as he should that Grand Oaks’
platting of the strip of land between lots 142 and 143 for a potential access road did not violate
the subdivision covenants. The Chancellor also properly held that Plaintiff was under a duty to
investigate and object in 1995, when she was given actual notice of Grand Oaks’ Chancery
Petition seeking authority to record the amended plat, and not eleven years later. The
Chancellor’s decision should be affirmed by this Court. Moreover, additional grounds not cited
by the Chancellor support a decision in favor of Appellee.

Mississippi’s appellate courts employ a limited standard of review of Chancellors’
decisions. The Courts will not disturb a Chancellor’s findings unless the court’s actions were
manifestly wrong, the court abused its discretion, or if it applied an erroneous legal standard.
When, as here, the Chancellor does not make separate findings of fact and conclusions of law,
the appellate court will assume that the Chancellor resolved all factual disputes in favor of the
appellee.

Appellant’s various argumenfs on appeal arc based upon two alleged defects in Grand
Oaks’ 1995 Petition, namely: 1) the Petition did not make specific reference to the platting of the
strip of land between lots 142 and 143; and 2) the Petition recited that “the existing easements
and streets as shown on the original Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks Subdivision shall remain
unchanged.” These arguments fail for the simple reason that Plaintiff could and should have
raised all these same arguments and objections back in 1995. Grand Oaks’ attorney’s hand
delivery of the court Petition announcing the acquisition of new property, expansion of the
subdivision, and adoption of an amended plat, gave Plaintiff’s knowledge of such facts as to

“excite her attention and incite her to inquiry.”
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Plaintiff contends that the Chancery Court lacked jurisdiction to authorize plat changes
other than those specifically referenced in the Petition. The cases cited by Plaintiff do not
support this “jurisdictional” argument. The Chancery Court clearly had jurisdiction. Plaintiff
was a named party to the proceeding and had the opportunity to oppose entry of the proposed
Order and/or to seek its modification. |

The Chancellor properly rejected Plaintiff’s equitable estoppel arguments which are
based on the recitation in the Petition that “the existing easements and streets shall remain
unchanged.” The recitation was literally accurate because the existing easements and streets
were not changed. Moreover, Plaintiff offered no testimony that she read and relied on this
particular portion of the Petition.

Similarly, the Chancellor correctly found that the platting of an access road between lots
142 and 143 did not violate par. 11 of Grand Oaks’ protective covenants, which provides that,
“No lot shall be sold for street purposes, or used as a street or easement to adjoining property or
lots...” Pursuant to the Mississippi Supreme Court’s decision in Lake Serene, the issue of
whether lots 142 or 143 have been sold or used for street purposes must be determined by
reference to the 1995 amended plat, not the 1994 original plat. No portion of reconfigured lots
142 and 143 was sold or used as a street or casement.

This Court should not entertain Plaintiff’s argument on appeal that the construction of an
access road of 45 — 47 feet in width will violate the City of Oxford’s Land Development Code.
Plaintiff offered no testimony or exhibits on this issue at the hearing below. Moreover, the
question of whether the planned road meets City code is for the City’s building department to

decide, not the Chancery Court.
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The Chancellor’s ruling was soundly based on the notice given to Plaintiff in 1995 and
her execution of the Waiver instrument. Nevertheless, additional grounds support dismissal of
Plaintiff’s action, as follows:

1. Plaintiff’s claim that Grand Oaks breached the subdivision covenants with the
adoption of the amended plat accrued in 1995 and is barred by Mississippi’s three year statute of
limitations for actions on contracts, Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49.

2. The amended plat was approved in a 1995 City of Oxford zoning proceeding. A
PUD Amendment containing the subject access road was approved over Plaintiff’s stated
opposition in a 2004 zoning case. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75, the sole remedy for
an appeal of a municipality’s zoning decision is an appeal to the Circuit Court by way of a Bill of
Exceptions. Thus, the Chancellor could have properly granted GOC’s Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiffs Complaint below on grounds that the Complaint is an impermissible “collateral
attack” on the City’s 1995 and 2004 zoning actions.

3) Plaintiff’s suit is barred by laches. Plaintiff did not act with “reasonable
promptitude” when she waited more than 10 years after the plat amendment to file suit. In that
intervening decade, GOC invested literally millions of dollars in the development of Grand Oaks
based upon the lawful adoption of the 1995 amended plat, the City’s approval of Grand Oaks’
master plan over Plaintiff’s objection in the 1995 and 2004 zoning cases, and the depiction of the
access road on the City of Oxford Official Zoning Map. The Chancellor’s finding that Plaintiff
was under a duty to investigate and object in 1995 comports with the maxim that “Equity aids
the vigilant and not those who slumber on their rights.”

For the foregoing reasons, GOC asks this Court to affirm the Chancellor’s decision

helow.
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ARGUMENT

I The standard of review

The Mississippi Supreme Court employs a limited standard of review of Chancellors’
decisions. E.g., Samples v. Davis, 904 So. 2d 1061, 1064 (Miss. 2004); Watson v. Watson, 882
So. 2d 95, 98 (Miss. 2004). “When reviewing decisions rendered by our chancery courts we
must remember that our ‘[c]hancellors are vested with broad discretion, and this Court will not
disturb the chancellor’s findings unless the court’s actions were manifestly wrong, the court
abused its discretion, or the court applied an erroneous legal standard.”” Lupo v. State Dep’t of
Transp., 771 So. 2d 358, 360-61 (Miss. 2000); Dobbins v. Coleman, 930 So. 2d 1246 (Miss.
2006); Thoms v. Thoms, 928 So. 2d 852 (Miss. 2006). ‘

Plaintiff’s appeal hinges on the determination of whether Grand Oaks’ 1995 Petition and
Waiver instrument were sufficient to put a reasonably prudent person on notice of facts which
reasonably diligent inquiry would have disclosed. Whether someone has acted reasonably is
generally a quéstion of fact, not law. T.T.W. v. C.C., 839 So. 2d 501, 506 & n.2 (Miss. 2003)

In rendering his bench opinion, the Chancellor in this case did not make separate findings
of fact and conclusions of law. When a Chancellor does not make specific findings of fact, the
Supreme Court will assume that he/she resolved all factual disputes in favor of the appellce.
E.g., McNeil v. Hester, 753 So. 2d 1057, 1072 (Miss. 2000); In re Estate of Law, 869 So. 2d
1027, 1029 (Miss. 2004).

IL The Chancellor correctly held that Plaintiff was under a duty to
investigate and object in 1995.

The central issue in this case is whether, as Plaintiff argues, the Chancellor got things
“backward” (Plaintiff’s Brief at 30) by charging Plaintiff with the duty to investigate and object
in 1995. For the reasons discussed below, we respectfully submit that the Chancellor put matters

in proper order when he held that the delivery of Grand Oaks’ Petition to Plaintiff, together with
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the accompanying Waiver, put Plaintiff “under a duty to investigate and object at that time.” Tr.
117.

Two alleged defects in Grand Oaks’ 1995 Chancery Petition and the published legal
notice form the predicate for nearly all of Plaintiff’s arguments on appeal:

1) The Petition and newspaper notice made reference to enlarging lots 143 through 147
and adding lots 148 through 150 but did not make specific reference to the platting of the strip of
land between lots 142 and 143.

2) The Petition recited that “the existing easements and streets as shown on the original
Maps and Plats of the Grand Oaks Subdiviston shall remain unchanged.”

Based on these alleged defects, Plaintiff argues that the Chancery Court was
“jurisdictionally limited to plat changes prayed for in the Petition,” that Grand Oaks should be
limited by its “representations” in the Petition, and that Plaintiff’s execution of the Waiver
should be disregarded bécause the Petition “assured” her that no streets were being changed. See
generally Plaintiff’s Brief, p. ii, 1-2.

The Chancellor correctly characterized this dispute as a “very simple case” and rejected
these same arguments. Tr. 115. Regardless of which legal theory Plaintiff chooses to frame her
argument, her attack on the 1995 Chancery proceeding fails for the simple reason that Plaintiff
could and should have raised all these same arguments and objections back in 1995. The
Chancellor pulled no punches in describing the handling of the 1995 Chancery proceeding as
“sloppy, sloppy, sloppy, sloppy.” Tr. 92. But he also made the right ruling in finding that given
the information which was presented to Plaintiff and which was otherwise available, Plaintiff
received sufficient notice to put her under a duty to investigate.

Plaintiff’s counsel asks rhetorically, “What amended plat is she bound by?” (Plaintiff’s

Brief at 24) The answer is: Exhibit 21, the amended plat dated October 5, 1995 that Grand Oaks’
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attorney carried with her when she brought the Petition and Waiver around for Plaintiff’s
signature. Tr. 72. It is the same amended plat that Grand Oaks presented to the Chancery Court
and which the Court authorized to be recorded in the land records, Tr. 73.; the same amended
plat which Grand QOaks presented for approval by the City of Oxford Planning Commission and
Board of Aldermen in 1995, R.E. 002; the same amended plat which was available for inspection
in Grand Oaks’ office. Tr. 74.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals, citing long standing precedent from the Mississippi
Supreme Court, held recently that:

Notice is charged when: in respect to a matter in which he has a material interest, a

person has knowledge of such facts as to excite the attention of a reasonably prudent man

and to put him upon guard and thus to incite him to inquiry, he is chargeable with notice,
equivalent in law to knowledge, of all those further relevant facts which such inquiry, if
pursued with reasonable diligence, would have disclosed.
In re Estate of Charles Wheeler v. Fikes et al., no. 2005-CA-01614-COA, § 26, (Miss. 2007),
quoting Crawford v. Brown, 215 Miss. 489, 503, 61 So. 2d 344, 350 (1952). Grand Oaks’
attorney’s hand delivery of a court Petition announcing the acquisition of new property,
expansion of the subdivision, and adoption of an amended plat, gave Plaintiff’s knowledge of
such facts as to excite her attention and incite her to inquiry.

Trying to avoid the consequences of her lack of diligence, Plaintiff argues that the
Chancery Court lacked jurisdiction in 1995 to approve a plat which contained changes other than
those described in the Petition and newspaper publication, and that her “waiver” was ineffective
to bestow jurisdiction on the court. (Plaintiff’s Brief at 21, 31) Plaintiff bases this purported
jurisdictional argument on an inaccurate reading and characterization of Reinecke v. Reinecke,
105 Miss. 798, 63 So. 215 (1913) (Plaintiff’s Brief at 21, 31) She states that “the prayer in the

Petition jurisdictionally limits the scope of the amendment the chancellor may allow. Reineke,

63 So. at 216.” (Plaintiff’s Brief at 31)
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Reinecke contains no such “jurisdictional limit” holding. The Court does not mention
“jurisdiction” anywhere in the opinion. Moreover, Reinecke is not a “plat amendment case”
involving a subdivision. Rather, it involved a series of deeds of family land executed by a
mother to her children containing conflicting and/or uncertain property descriptions, which
became the subject of two Chancery actions. The Supreme Court declined to give effect to a
default decree obtained by the mother against one of her children in the first Chancery action
because the mother “failed to give the names of the persons interested and to make such persons
parties, and, in short, failed to comply with the provisions of the statute.” Id.

Unlike Mrs. Reineke, Grand Oaks followed the statutory procedure in 1995 for giving all
interested parties notice of the Chancery action and proposed amended subdivision plat. Plaintiff
concedes this. (Plaintiff’s Brief at 5)

Plaintiff makes the same error citing Barrett v. Ballard, 483 So. 2d 304 (Miss. 1985),
claiming that it “explicitly holds that the advertising process is a jurisdictional limit on the
court’s power.” (Plaintiff’s Brief at 22) In Barrett, the Mississippi Supreme Court refused to
give effect to a prior Chancery decree oﬁtained by a subdivision developer which vacated the
developer’s original subdivision plat. The Court noted that, “The record nowhere indicates that
the petitioners published a summons in a county newspaper of general circulation, as required by
statute.” Id. at 305. “Ballard and Hudspeth have not contested the appellants’ allegation that no
publication was made of the proposal to vacate the plat of Hillcrest subdivision, nor is there any
indication of publication in the record.” fd. at 306. The Court held as follows:

The required publication was not made in this case, which invalidates the judgment

subsequently entered....Because publication was not made, and because neither the

Barretts nor the forty-nine would-be intervenors were otherwise given legally adequate

or timely notice of the proceedings commenced by Ballard and Hudspeth, the chancellor

erred in dismissing this case on March 30, 1984.

Id. a1 306-07.
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Barrett does not discuss the notion of limiting the court’s jurisdiction to those matters
described in the published notice. Rather, it invalidated the prior decree in foto because the
developer published no notice at all. Grand Oaks’ situation is opposite from Barrett because
Grand Oaks published notice of the filing of its Petition. Moreover, Grand Oaks’ attorney
personally delivered a copy of the Petition to Plaintiff and all the named Grand Oaks lot owners.

Plaintiff’s “jurisdictional” argument simply lacks merit. The Chancery Court clearly had
subject matter jurisdiction over Grand Oaks’ plat amendment proceeding pursuant to Miss. Code
Ann, § 19-27-31. By virtue of her execution of the Waiver, Plaintiff became a party to that
proceeding. She had the opportunity to oppose entry of the Court’s Order and/or to try to modify
its terms,

Plaintiff inaccurately claims that Reinecke “holds that the res judicata impact of the
decree in the prior plat amendment case is defined and limited by the relief sought in the
petition.” (Plaintiff’s Brief at 21) Such a holding is nowhere to be found in the opinion. To the
contrary, Mississippi cases applying the doctrine of res judicata bar a party from re-litigating not
only those issues which were actually decided in a previous case, but also those issues which
might have been litigated. Little v. V & G Welding Supply, Inc., 704 So.2d 1336, 1337 (Miss.
1997); Estate of Anderson v. Deposit Guar. Nat’l Bank, 674 So.2d 1254, 1256 (Miss. 1996);
Jenkins v. Terry Investments, LLC, 947 So. 2d 972, 977 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). See also Brown
v. Felsen, 442 U.S. 127, 131 (1979). The courts look to see which claims and issues might have
been litigated “with the use of diligence.” Barr v. Resolution Trust Corp., 837 S.W.2d 627, 628
(Tex. 1992). Had she been reasonably diligent, Plaintiff could have inspected the amended plat,
asked questions, filed objections, and/or otherwise opposed Grand Oaks’ Petition and proposed

Order approving the amended plat and authorizing its recording.
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The Chancellor also properly rejected Plaintiff’s arguments that her signed Waiver has no
effect because of the recitation in the Petition that “the existing easements and streets shall
remain unchanged.” The Chancellor correctly observed that this recitation was literally accurate
— the amended plat did not change any of the existing easements and streets; rather, it added a
potential new access road between re-drawn lots 142 and 143. Tr. 116. That’s not to say that the
Petition was well drawn or that it wouldn’t have been the better practice to make specific
reference to the newly platted 47 foot strip. But ultimately, the precise language of the Petition
is irrelevant to Plaintiff’s action.: Despite her repeated assertions that the Petition gave
“assurances that there were no street changes” (e.g. Plaintiff’s Brief at ii, 24, 26, 30), Plaintiff did
not testify that she read the Petition, much less that this particular portion of the Petition
“assured” her.

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